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LICENSER:

‘The Inzpection wes gn exsmination of tha activities conducled under your ficanse 85 they relate o radiation safety and to compliance with the Nusiear
Raqulatery Cemmission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your figense. Tho inspestian songlsted of salectiva examinalions of
procedures and representative records, Inlorvisws with persenne), and ebearvations by the inspecier. Ths ingpection fndinge see 66 ftlisws:

| 711 @ased on the Inspection findings, ne violations wore dendfied,

f'""j 2. Pravious violation(s) closed,

I [ 5. The vielationals), epacificaliy deseribed to you by the inspeciar as non-ciied vislatlons, are not being tited becsuse they wera seif-identified,
non-rapotitive, ang conactive action wos or is being taken, and the remalnlng criteris in the NRC Enforeement Poligy, lo exercise
. dincration, were sallsfiad,

Nan-zited violation{s) werg diacussad involving the fallowing requirement{sh

1 4, During thig inapgction, sarlaln of your astivities, o3 descnibed belew and/or attachad, ware in viglation of NRT muuements and a1 balng
’ ¢iied In gecordance with NRE Enfsreament Policy. This form Is 2 NOTICE OF VIOLATION, whish msy boe nulject {6 pasting In aacuidanse
with 10 CFR 18,11,

{Vialations and Coreclive Atians)

10 CFR 71.5(a) requires that a licensee who transports licensed material outside of the site of usage, a8
specified in the NRC license, or where trangpart is on public highways, or who delivers licensed material to o
carrier for transport, comply with the applicable requiteraents of the regulations appropriate o the mode of
wansport of the Departinent of Transportation (DOT) in 49 CFR Parts 107, 171,180, and 390.397.

—
3
]

45 CFR 172,704(a) specifies the clements of hazmat employee teaining as: (1) peneral awatepess/
familiarizadon trainine, (2) function-specific training, and (3) safety training. 49 CFR 172.704{c) requirss, in
part, that 2 hazmat employee receive initial training, and recwrrent traiming at least once cvery thres years,

Continued on Part 2 (next page)

Statement of Correclive Actions

| hereby state that, within 30 days, the aclions deacribed by me to the ngpactor will be laken (o sorraet the violallons ldentiNad, This statament of
corrective acions Is made In sccongance with (he requiremaenis of 10 CFR 2,201 (corredlive stepa sirendy taken, corfaciive sleps which will be taken,
dale when full compllante wil be achieved), | understand that g further written respagdejto NRC wil ba rogulred, ureila specifieatly requesiod
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LICENSEES { 3/4/12.

REPRESENTATIVE | DON Diew, RSO

NRC INSFEGTOR | Robert P, Hays

BRANCH CHIEF | Tamara E. Bloomer
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AEPORT NUMBER(S)
3. QOCKET NUMBER(S)

030-34487

{Continued)
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1. ICENSEELQCATION INSFECTED:

J.awson-Fisher Agsociates, P. C.
525 West Washington Avenue
South Bend, IN 46601

12-01

0.5, NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISRION

2, NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE

Regicen 1]

U. 5. Nuglear Regulatory Coramission
2443 Warnenville Rond, Suite 210
Lisle, IL 605324352

. N ——
4, LICENSE NUMBER(S) §. DATE(S) OF INBPECTION

13-32007-0)

February 29, 2012

-

Cantrary to the above, the Hegnsee did not provide wraining for its bazmat cmployces which satisfied the
requiremsnts in Subpart H (0'49 CFR Part 172, in that during the period betwaen Februacy 28, 2009, and

| February 29, 2012, a period greater than three years, Specifically, the licenses did not provide at least once during the

prior three years, recurrent training for its hazmat employees as required and the licensee otherwise meets

the definition of a hazmat employer in 49 CFR 171.8.

This is a Severity Level IV Violation (Section 6.3.d.4).
The licensee’s proposed corrective actions include developing a recurrent haamat vefiesher rainiog program

and provide the training for its hazmat employees within the next 30 days and ensure that the recurrent traiming i3
provided at least once evary three years thereafier,

R
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o 2201 Docket File Information
SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION
1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE
Lawson-Fisher Associates, P. C. Region il
525 West Washington Avenue U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
South Bend, IN 46601 2443 Warrenville Road, Suite 210
Lisle, IL 60532-4352
REPORT NUMBER(S) 12-01

3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4, LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
030-34487 13-32007-01 February 29, 2012

6. INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED 7. INSPECTION FOCUS AREAS
87124 03.01-03.07

SUPPLEMENTAL INSPECTION INFORMATION
1. PROGRAM CODE(S) 2. PRIORITY 3. LICENSEE CONTACT 4. TELEPHONE NUMBER -
03121 5 Don Dietz, RSO (574) 234-3167

| Main Office Inspection Next Inspection Date: 02/28/2017

. Field Office Inspection

v | Temporary Job Site Inspection Koontz Lake, IN

PROGRAM SCOPE

The licensee is authorized to possess and use up to five Troxler Model 3400 series portable gauging devices at
temporary job sites anywhere in the United States where the NRC maintains regulatory jurisdiction. The licensee is
authorized by the license for one storage location in Indiana. At the time of the inspection, the licensee possessed one
device as authorized by the license and is used on construction projects in the South Bend, IN vicinity and not
transported to other states. The gauge is stored at a temporary job site as needed. The licensee has a total of 7
authorized gauge users with training certificates maintained by the RSO. At the time of the inspection, the gauge was
being used and stored at a temporary job site at the licensee’s construction project in Koontz Lake, IN, using a
minimum of two tangible barriers.

Performance Observations

During this inspection, the inspector reviewed and the RSO demonstrated/discussed: (1) Two tangible barriers for
gauge security and padlocks while unattended and stored at a temporary job site; (2) DOT requirements and shipping
papers; (3) dosimetry (no annual dose greater than 20 mrem); (4) sealed source inventories and leak tests (June 2011);
(5) survey meter availability and use; (6) emergency procedures and reporting requirements; (7) annual program
reviews. One violation of 49 CFR 172.704(c} for failing to provide recurrent HAZMAT training at least once every
three years was identified.

The inspector performed independent radiation measurements which indicated no dose concerns and consistent with
expected readings.
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